

Departamento de Física

Faculdade de Ciências e Tecnologia da Universidade de Coimbra

# Role of P2Y1 receptors on neuronal polarity and axonal growth: implications for mossy fiber sprouting in epileptic phenomena

Rui de Oliveira Beleza



## Departamento de Física

Faculdade de Ciências e Tecnologia

Universidade de Coimbra

# Role of P2Y1 receptors on neuronal polarity and axonal growth: implications for mossy fiber sprouting in epileptic phenomena

Dissertação apresentada à Universidade de Coimbra para cumprimento dos requisitos necessários à obtenção do grau de Mestre Eng. Biomédica, realizada em sob а orientação do Doutor Ricardo Rodrigues (). Estudos realizados Centro no de Neurociências Biologia Celular, e em Coimbra, "Neuromodulation" no Grupo ("Purines@CNC")

Rui de Oliveira Beleza

### Acknowledgements

Ao meu orientador com quem eu partilho o sucesso desta tese, Doutor Ricardo Rodrigues, por todo o trabalho, esforço, paciência, devoção e dedicação à minha formação. Gostaria de deixar a minha palavra de apreço. Sem dúvida que agora, um ano corrido, nao me poderia sentir mais agradecido por ter tido a oportunidade de ficar sob a sua orientação. Por tudo o que foi feito este ano e pelo exemplo de profissionalismo, o meu sincero obrigado.

Ao professor Rodrigo Cunha, pela gentileza de ter aceite o meu pedido e por me ter acolhido com simpatia no seu grupo, permitindo-me o acesso a um grupo profissional assim como a uma excelente plataforma para a minha formação.

À Joana e à Patrícia, por todo o tempo e paciência que dispensaram para me auxiliar e ensinar.

À Anna, ao Tiago e ao Gonçalo, camaradas de armas na condição de mestrandos, um muito obrigado pelo tempo, pelos cafés e pelas esperas para almoço.

A toda a equipa das "Purinas" um obrigado por me terem acolhido com um sorriso e por este ano todo que passamos.

A todos os membros do Centro de Neurociências e Biologia Celular de Coimbra sem os quais este trabalho também nao seria possível.

Aos meus amigos, que em verdade nada contribuiram para a minha vida académica, muito pelo contrário. Ao Tobias, ao João Duarte, ao João Monteiro, José Miguel, Pedro, Tiago e Ricardo. Pelos momentos passados e pelos que hão-de vir.

À minha família, por tudo. Em especial aos meus avós, pela companhia, pelos sorrisos e por tudo que me deram, sem ambos não seria o mesmo.

À minha irmã, por todo o apoio, pois sabe que um dia vai precisar de mim. Por ter estado lá na infância, na juventude e por saber que vai estar na vida adulta que tão rapidamente se aproxima.

E acima de tudo aos meus pais. Pelo exemplo, pela firmeza, por nunca terem desistido, pelos sorrisos e pelos confortos. Graças a ambos cheguei ao fim de mais uma etapa. O meu eterno obrigado.

## **Table of Contents**

Acknowledgements	3
Abstract	9
Resumo	11
Introduction	13
1 - Purinergic signaling	16
2 - Purinergic Signaling in the adult brain	21
3 - Purinergic Signaling and Neuronal Development	22
4 - Purinergic Signaling and Epileptogenesis	23
Aim	27
Materials and Methods	31
1. Animals used	33
2. Rat hippocampal neurons	33
3. Animal model of temporal lobe epilepsy	34
3.1. Experimental procedure in the animal model of temporal lobe epilepsy	34
4. Total protein extracts	35
5. Western Blot analysis	35
6. Immunocytochemistry in rat hippocampal neurons	36
7. Data presentation and statistical analyses	36
Results	39
1 – Role of purinergic signaling in the establishment of neuronal polarity (axon specification and axonal outgrowth in rat hippocampal neurons	41
1.1 - P2Y1Rs promote while P2X7Rs inhibt axonal growth in rat hippocampal neurons	41
1.2 – P2Y1R decreases the phosphorylation levels of CRMP2 at Thr514	42
1.3 – Purinergic signaling affects neuronal polarity	43
1.3.1. A2AR activation induces the formation of secondary axons in rat hippocampal neurons	44
1.3.2. P1Rs differentially regulate the phosphorylation of CRMP2 <sup>T514</sup>	45
2 . P2Y1R-CRMP2 signaling module in KA-animal model of temporal lobe epilepsy	47
Discussion	51
References	55

### Abbreviations

- A1R Adenosine A1 receptor
- A2AR Adenosine A2A receptor
- A2BR Adenosine A2B receptor
- A3R Adenosine A3 receptor
- aCSF Artificial cerebrospinal fluid
- ATP Adenosine triphosphate
- AP Alkaline phosphatase
- cAMP Cyclic adenosine monophosphate
- E-5'N Ecto-5'-nucleotidase
- E-NPP Ectonucleotide pyrophosphatase
- E-NTPDases Ectonucleoside triphosphate diphosphohydrolases
- PBS Phosphate buffered saline
- SDS-PAGE Sodium dodecyl sulphate-polyacrylamide gel electrophoresis
- **UDP** Uridine diphosphate
- **UTP** Uridine triphosphate
- $\label{eq:transformed_transformed} \textbf{TLE} \textbf{Temporal lobe epilepsy}$
- SE Status epilepticus
- KA Kainate

 $\mathbf{MF}$  – Mossy fiber

- KARs Kainate receptors
- ABC ATP-binding cassette
- P2Rs P2 receptors
- P1Rs P1 receptors
- P2XRs P2X receptors
- P2YRs P2Y receptors

### Abstract

Several brain pathologies present developmental-like events in their etiology and hence can be explored from the perspective of recapitulating developmental features. One eloquent example is the abnormal axonal sprouting observed in epileptic phenomena. Our group recently found that glutamate, one of the major players during seizures, promotes axonal outgrowth through a newly found pathway, KARs-PKC-GSK3beta-CRMP2, that should be involved in MF sprouting: 1) KARs are involved in the SE-induction elicited by systemic administration of kainate (KA) and 2) blockade of CRMP2 prevents axonal sprouting upon traumatic brain injury. Since KARs are poor therapeutic targets due to the lack of selective drugs, it is now pursued the finding of other signalling systems capable of modulating axonal outgrowth through the modulation of CRMP2 function and be operational during epileptogenesis, with the ultimate goal of finding a therapeutical target to arrest MF sprouting. P2 (ATP) receptors (P2Rs) and in particular the P2Y1R fulfil these criteria. On one hand 1)ATP is preferentially released at highfrequency stimulations in the hippocampus, 2)P2Y1R is localized presynaptically and able to modulate glutamate release in the hippocampus, 3)P2Y1R density is enhanced in the hippocampus upon SE-induction by KA and 4)P2Y1R contributes to status epilepticus (SE)induced neurodegeneration, which evidence that P2Y1R is operational during epileptogenesis. On the other hand it was recently reported that P2Y1R is present in the axonal tip of developing hippocampal neurons bolstering axonal outgrowth. More interestingly, it was shown to involve the phosphorylation of the inhibitory phosphorylation site Ser9 of GSK3B, as observed for KARs. In this study, it was found that in addition to an increase in the phosphorylation of Ser9 of GSK3β, P2Y1R activation also dephosphorylates CRMP2 at the phosphorylation site targeted by GSK3 $\beta$ , Thr514

. Hence, P2Y1R should promote axonal outgrowth through the desinhibition of CRMP2 by the dephosphorylation at Thr514, reflecting the upstream inhibition of GSK3 $\beta$ .Furthermore, it was also found that purinergic signaling can also modulate neuronal polarization as apyrase, an enzyme that catabolizes ATP and ADP into adenosine induced the formation of secondary axons This was not due to a depletion extracellular ATP and ADP as the blockade of P2Rs did not mimic the effect of apyrase, but instead it was due to activation of A2ARs. Interestingly, it was also found that the pharmacological activation of A2ARs modifies the phosphorylation pattern of the GSK3β and CRMP2 similarly to the observed for P2Y1R, suggesting for a mechanistical convergence of both effects in the regulation of GSK3β/CRMP2 pathway.

In order to evaluate if the P2Y1R-GSK3β-CRMP2 pathway is reactivated during epileptogenesis, it was first tested the P2Y1R involvement in modifications in the phosphorylation state of GSK3β and CRMP2 observed in the hippocampus upon pilocarpine-induced SE. For that purpose we used the KA-animal model. However, the observation of almost complete cleavage of CRMP2 into the truncated form CRMP2 55 kDa in the rat hippocampus 24 h upon KA injection impaired any evaluation regarding the involvement of P2Y1R in the modifications in the phosphorylation of CRMP2. Nonetheless, it was observed that the pharmacological blockade of P2Y1R prevented the cleavage of CRMP2 by reducing calpain activity as the blockade of P2Y1R attenuated the cleavage of the calpain substrate spectrin. These observations further re-enforce the group's previous findings that the blockade of P2Y1R is neuroprotective in excitotoxic conditions through the prevention/attenuation of calpain activity.

### Resumo

Algumas neuropatologias apresentam na sua etiologia mecanismos característicos do desenvolvimento neuronal e como tal, podem ser estudadas numa perspectiva de recapitulação de mecanismos subjacentes ao desenvolvimento. Um exemplo eloquente é o crescimento axonal aberrante observado em fenómenos epilépticos.

O nosso grupo recentemente descobriu que o glutamato, um dos neurotransmissores principais durante ataques epilépticos, promove o cresimento axonial através da via KARs-PKC-GSK3β-CRMP2, a qual deve estar envolvida no crescimento das fibras musgosas no hipocampo, característico da epilepsia de lobo temporal: 1) os receptores de kainato estão envolvidos na indução do estado epileptico provocado pela exposição a kainato e 2) o bloqueio da CRMP2 previne o cresimento axonal após trauma. Devido ao facto de existirem poucos fármacos selectivos para os receptores de kainato, torna-se necessário encontrar outros sistemas de sinalização que sejam capazes de modular o crescimento axonal através da modulação da função da CRMP2 e que estejam operacionais durante a epileptogénese, com o objectivo de encontrar um alvo terapêutico capaz de impedir o crescimento aberrante das fibras musgosas do hipocampo. Os receptores P2(ATP) e em particular os receptores P2Y1 preenchem estes requisitos. Por um lado 1) o ATP é libertado no hipocampo preferencialmente após estímulos de alta frequência, 2) os receptores P2Y1 encontram-se localizados pré-sinapticamente e têm a capacidade de modular a libertação de kainato no hipocampo, 3) a densidade receptores P2Y1 no hipocampo está aumentada após a indução de status epilepticus (SE) por kainato e 4) os receptores P2Y1 contribuem para a neurodegeneração induzida por SE,Estas observações demonstram que os receptores P2Y1R estão activos durante a epileptogenese. Por outro lado foi recentemente descrito que os receptores P2Y1 estão presentes no cone de crescimento axonial de neurónios do hipocampo em desenvolvimento e que este receptor promove o crescimento axonal. Além do mais foi mostrado que, esta indução de crescimento por parte deste receptor envolve a fosforilação inibitória do resíduo de aminoácido S9 da GSK3β, tal como observado após a activação dos receptores de kainato. Neste estudo, não só se observou igualmente um aumento na

fosforilação da S9 da GSK3<sup>β</sup>, mas também uma diminuição da fosforilação da CRMP2 no resíduo de aminoácido T514 induzida pela activação do receptor P2Y1. Esta observação sugere que os receptores P2Y1 devem promover o crescimento axonial através da desinibição da CRMP2 pela indução da desfosforilação da T514 a jusante da inibição da GSK3β. Para além disto, foi observado que a sinalização purinérgica modula também a polaridade neuronal, uma vez que, na presença de apyrase, uma enzima que cataboliza ATP e ADP em AMP favorecendo a formação de adenosina, houve um aumento dos neurónios com mais do que um axónio. Este efeito observado não foi devido à remoção do ATP e ADP extracelulares, pois o bloqueio dos receptores P2 não mimetizou os efeitos da apyrase, mas muito provavelmente devido à activação dos receptores A2A. Isto porque a activação farmacológica dos receptores A2A também induziu a formação de axónios secundários aberrantes. Uma vez mais, este efeito parece envolver a regulação da via GSK3b-CRMP2 dado que foi observado que a activação farmacológica do receptor A2A modifica o padrão de fosforilação da GSK3β e da CRMP2 de um modo semelhante à observada após a activação dos receptores P2Y1, sugerindo uma convergência mecanística de ambos os efeitos. De forma a avaliar se a via P2Y1R-GSK3β-CRMP2 é reactivada durante processos de epileptogénese, foi testado o envolvimento dos receptores P2Y1 nas modificações de fosforilação da GSK3β e da CRMP2, previamente descritas como estando presentes no hipocampo no modelo animal de epilepsia induzida por pilocarpina. Neste trabalho utilizamos o modelo de kainato e ao contrário do descrito no modelo de pilocarpina, a observação de um aumento da forma truncada de CRMP2 (55 kDA) no hipocampo do rato, 24h após a injecção de kainato, impediu qualquer avaliação sobre o envolvimento destes receptores nas modificações de fosforilação da CRMP2. No entanto, foi observado que o bloqueio farmacológico dos receptores P2Y1 preveniu a clivagem da CRMP2 através da redução da actividade da calpaina, dado que este bloqueio atenuou também clivagem do substrato da calpaina, espectrina. Estas observações vêm reenforçar as descobertas anteriores por parte do grupo sobre o papel neuroprotector do bloqueio do receptor P2Y1 em condições de excitotoxicidade, através da prevenção/atenuação da actividade da calpaina.

Introduction

Brain development is a tight controlled process, which includes a series of steps such as neurogenesis, cell migration, differentiation, neuritogenesis as well as synapse formation. A tight control of these steps is implied for the formation of a functional neuronal network and any impairment can lead to long-term deleterious effects, which range from mild cognitive impairment to severe neurological pathologies. On the other hand it is also known that several brain pathologies present developmental-like events. One eloquent example is the abnormal axonal sprouting observed in epileptic phenomena.

Epileptogenesis is a dynamic process initiated by a primary epileptogenic injury (*e.g.* traumatic brain injury, stroke, prolonged febrile seizure, status epilepticus (SE) or encephalitis) that triggers progressive structural-functional modifications, leading to recurrent spontaneous seizures. One such cardinal modification in patients and animal models of temporal lobe epilepsy (TLE) is an abnormal axonal mossy fiber sprouting, which in turn leads to synaptic reorganization in the hippocampus, more specifically in the dentate gyrus (Tauck and Nadler, 1985), creating an aberrant excitatory feedback circuit in granule cells (Zhang *et al.* 2012), contributing to the hyperexcitability underlying the seizure prone state (Nadler, 2003). The prevention of the mossy fiber sprouting has been proposed to control TLE (Koyama and Ikeaga, 2004).

Epilepsy-related neural activity is sufficient to trigger the initial formation of abnormal protrusions from MF axons in the hilar region (Ikegaya, 1999). This is followed by an abnormal retrodirective growth of MF into the inner molecular layer, most likely due to a deregulation of chemofactors necessary for the establishment of normal MF connectivity during development (see Holmaat *et al.*, 2003). Thus, a better comprehension of this phenomenon may be achieved by investigating normal developmental features. Using this rationale, we could recently identify and characterize a mechanism governing axonal outgrowth during embryonic stages that can be involved in the aberrant axonal sprouting. We found that glutamate, one of the major players during seizures, through the activation of kainate receptors (KARs), promotes axonal outgrowth and, more importantly, it can induce the formation of secondary abnormal axons in developing hippocampal neurons (Rodrigues *et al.*, manuscript under preparation). This is achieved through a newly found pathway triggered by the non-canonical signaling of KARs (Rodrigues and Lerma, 2012), involving PKC-mediated inhibition of GSK3 $\beta$ , leading to a disinhibition of the

microtubule-associated protein CRMP2 (Marques *et al.*, manuscript under submission), a protein crucial for axonal specification and outgrowth (Yoshimura *et al.*, 2005). In the adult brain, although the role of CRMP2 is essentially unknown, it was recently shown that the blockade of CRMP2 prevents axonal sprouting upon traumatic brain injury (Wilson *et al.*, 2012). Moreover, in the pilocarpine-animal model of TLE, a similar phosphorylation pattern of GSK3 $\beta$  was observed in the hippocampus (Lee *et al.*, 2012). Indeed, in an animal model of temporal lobe epilepsy, our group could also found that the known abnormal KARs activity (Mulle *et al.*, 1998) reactivates this pathway, which most likely supports the development of the characteristically hippocampal mossy fiber axonal sprouting (unpublished data). However, the potential use of KARs as therapeutically targets is hindered by the lack of selective drugs. Hence, we now pursue the finding of other signaling systems operational during epileptogenesis and capable of modulating axonal outgrowth through the modulation of CRMP2 function, with the ultimate goal of finding a therapeutically target to arrest MF sprouting.

#### **1** - Purinergic signaling

Adenosine 5'-triphosphate (ATP) is a multifunctional nucleotide that is most important to cell life as a "molecular currency" for energy transfer. Discovered in 1929 (Lohman, 1929), this molecule belongs to the purines family, being composed by an adenine attached to a ribose molecule (adenosine) that links to a chain of three phosphate groups (Figure 1). Nowadays, it is well known that besides its role as an energetic molecule, ATP is also an extracellular signaling molecule. Already in 1929, it was reported potent actions of purine nucleotides and nucleosides, ATP and adenosine, on the heart and blood vessels (Drury and Szent-Gyorgyi, 1929) and later,



further papers reported effects of extracellular ATP in several systems/tissues (reviewed in Burnstock, 2006). However, the acceptance of a purinergic/ATPergic signalling system has only started in 1972, when ATP was proposed by Geoffrey Burnstock to be a

Figure 1 – ATP molecule structure

neurotransmitter in non-adrenergic, non-cholinergic nerves in the gut and bladder (Burnstock, 1972). The concept of a purinergic signalling system gain support by the discovery that the majority of cells are endowed with ecto-enzymes capable to metabolize ATP in the extracellular space, denominated ecto-nucleotidases (as reviewed in Zimmerman, 2012). Ectonucleotidases comprises several enzyme families that catabolize ATP into ADP, AMP and adenosine and are divided into several specific groups: ecto-nucleoside triphosphate diphosphohydrolases (E-NTPDases), ecto-nucleotide pyrophosphatase (E-NPP), alkaline phosphatases (AP) and ecto 5'nucleotidase (Ecto-5'-NT). Furthermore, it is also known now that the release of ATP via damaged cell membranes from injured or dying cells is not the only source of extracellular ATP. ATP may cross intact cellular membranes of healthy cells by transmembrane transport using plasma membrane ATP transporters or channels, such as connexin hemichannels (Cotrina et al., 2000), osmotic transporters linked to anion channels (Abdipranoto et al., 2003; Darby et al., 2003), or ATP-binding cassette (ABC) transporters (Schwiebert, 1999; Ballerini et al., 2002). There is also compelling evidence for exocytotic vesicular release of ATP from neurons (Pankratov et al., 2006), and from non-neuronal cells through intracellular granules (Gordon, 1986; Coco et al., 2003), both mediated by Ca<sup>2+</sup>-dependent membrane/vesicle fusion. It is now recognized that ATP release from many cells is a physiological as well as a pathophysiological phenomenon (as reviewed in Burnstock, 2011). However, the purinergic signalling was only consolidated upon the cloning and molecular identification of purinergic receptors.

In the extracellular space, ATP can produce its biological effects *per se* through the activation of P2 receptors (P2Rs) or through its metabolites: ADP, which also activates some P2 receptors, and adenosine, through the activation of P1 receptors (P1Rs), both formed by the extracellular catabolism mediated by ecto-nucleotidases. The P1 receptor family is composed by four different adenosine receptors: A1R, A2AR, A2BR and A3R, and each subtype have its own characteristic molecular, biochemical and pharmacological properties (Table1).

All four P1Rs are metabotropic G-protein coupled receptors with seven transmembrane domains (Furlong *et al.*, 1992), and all have the enzyme adenyl cyclase as first effector, which is either stimulated or inhibited (with a consequent increase or decrease of cAMP levels) depending upon which receptor is triggered (van Calker *et al.*, 1979; Londos *et al.*, 1980). The A1R and A3R inhibit adenyl cyclase through the coupling to  $G_{i1,2,3/o}$  and to  $G_{i2,3}/G_{q/11}$  proteins,

respectively, whereas A2AR and A2BR stimulate adenyl cyclase through the respective coupling to  $G_{S/olf}$  and  $G_{S/q}$  proteins (Abbracchio *et al.*, 1995; Kull *et al.*, 2000; Fredholm *et al.*, 2001).

Receptors	A1	A2A	A2B	A3
G-protein Coupling	Gi, Go	Gs, Golf	Gs, Gq	Gi
Effects	↓cAMP	↑cAMP	↑cAMP	↓cAMP
	↑IP3	↑MAP Kinase	↑IP3	↑IP3
	↑MAP Kinase	↑PKC	↑/↑MAP Kinase	↑MAP Kinase
	↑K+			
	↓Ca2+-currents			
Selective Agonists	СРА, ССРА,	CGS21680	None	CI-IB-MECA
	СНА	HE-NECA CV-1808, CV- 1674		
Selective Antagonists	DPCPX	SCH58261	MRS1754	MRS1220
		ZM241385		MRS1191

Table 1. Properties of the adenosine receptors (Fredholm et al., 2001 and 2003)

ı.

P2Rs correspond to the larger purinergic receptor group and are divided into two main classes: P2X and P2Y, differing from each other in structure. P2X receptors (P2XRs) are ligand-gated cation channels and P2Y receptors (P2YRs) are metabotropic G protein coupled receptors. (Abbrachio and Burnstock, 1994; Fredholm *et al.* 1994).

Functional and biochemical data collected from recombinant receptors studies established the existence of several functional homomultimers and heteromultimers P2X receptors. Seven P2XRs subunits have been cloned:  $P2X_{1,2,3,4,5,6,7}$  (Ravelic and Burnstock, 1998), all of them capable to form functional homomeric receptors. Also, several heteromultimers have already been functionally characterized: P2X2/3 (Radford *et al.*, 1997), P2X4/6 (Lê *et al.*, 1998a), P2X1/5 (Lê *et al.*, 1999), P2X2/6 (King *et al.*, 2000), P2X1/2 (Brown *et al.*, 2002) and P2X1/4 (Nicke *et al.*, 2005). However, more functional heteromers are possible (see Torres *et al.*, 1998).

As mentioned, the P2XRs are non-selective ligand-gated cation channels, activated by extracellular ATP (in the micromolar range) and present an equal permeability to sodium (Na<sup>+</sup>) and potassium (K<sup>+</sup>) and a significant higher permeability to calcium (Ca<sup>2+</sup>). The analysis of their hydrophobicity pattern predicts that each P2X subunit has two transmembrane hydrophobic

regions. The first region is involved in the channel gating and the second region in lining the ion pore, with both terminals (-NH2 and –COOH) laying in the cytoplasm (Li *et al.*, 2008). Both terminals diverge from one receptor type to another, with the –COOH terminal binding the motifs for protein kynases responsible for the receptor kinetics, and the –NH2 terminal having an important role in the trafficking of receptors to the plasmatic membrane (as reviewed in North, 2012). The extracellular domain of these receptors has amino acid homology, containing ten cysteine residues that form a series of disulphide bridges where the ATP has its binding site (Khakh, 2001).

P2XRs can be grouped according to pharmacological and biophysical properties (Table 2). P2XRs are activated by ATP, but diadenosine polyphosphates, which present a lower potency and efficacy than ATP can also be considered a natural ligand (Wildman *et al.*, 1998). Besides ATP and diadenosine polyphosphates, the only P2XRs agonists in existence are ATP analogs such as  $\alpha\beta$ meATP and  $\beta\gamma$ meATP (metabolically more stable and do not activate any P2YR) (Coddou *et al.*, 2011).

Receptors	Properties			
P2X1	High sensitivity to $\alpha\beta$ meATP and to ATP			
P2X3	Rapid desensitization upon agonist application			
P2X2	Lower sensitivity to ATP			
P2X4	Very low sensitivity to aßmeATP			
P2X5	Slow desensitization			
P2X7	Lower sensitivity to ATP			
	No desensitization			

 Table 2. Grouping of P2XRs according to pharmacological and biophysical properties (Wildman et al., 1998;

Coddou e	et al.,	2011)
----------	---------	-------

P2Y receptors (P2YRs) are metabotropic G-protein coupled receptors endogenously triggered by ATP, ADP and pyriminide nucleotides (UTP, UDP, and UDP-Glucose). To date eight different mammalian P2YRs subtypes have been cloned (P2Y<sub>1,2,4,6,11,12,13,14</sub>). These receptors are comprised by seven transmembrane regions with an extracellular –NH2 terminal

and an intracellular –COOH terminal (Abbracchio *et al.*, 2006; Burnstock, 2007). This intracellular loop and the C-terminus present high diversity among the P2YRs subtypes, which influences the degree of coupling with  $G_{q/11}$ ,  $G_s$  and  $G_i$  and, on the other hand, the receptor subtypes present a high homology level between them at the hydrophobic transmembrane regions, mainly at TM3, TM6 and TM7 (Abbracchio *et al.*, 2006).

While P2XRs are activated by ATP, P2YRs differ in their selectivity to ligands. As such, they can be classified regarding their natural ligands, in addition to their coupling to different G-proteins (Table 3) (Boeynaems *et al.* 2012). Several antagonists and agonists for these receptors have been developed throughout the years and are presented in Table 3.

Receptors	P2Y1	P2Y2	P2Y4	P2Y6
G-protein Coupling	Gq	Gq+Gi	Gq+Gi	Gq
Natural Ligands	ADP	ATP=UTP	UTP	UDP
Agonists	2-MeSADP=ADPβS>2-	UTP=ATP,Ins45973	UTP=ATP,Ins45973	UDP>UTP>>ATP
	MeSATP=ADP>ATP			Ins415
Antagonists	MRS2179, MRS2500	Suramin, RB2	Suramin, RB2, PPADS	MRS2578
Receptors	P2Y11	P2Y12	P2Y13	P2Y14
G-protein Coupling	Gq+Gs	Gi	Gi	Gi
Natural Ligands	ATP	ADP	ADP	UDP-Glucose
Agonists	BzATP=ATPγS>ATP	ADP=2- MeSADP>>ATP	ADP=2- MeSADP>>ATP	UDPglucose=UDPgalactose
Antagonists	Suramin, RB2	CT50547, Ins49266	MRS2211	-

Table 3 – P2YRs natural occurring ligands, agonists and antagonists and G-proteins (Boeynaems et al. 2012)

The analysis of Table 3 shows a division in the P2YRs into two main groups: one corresponding to the P2Y<sub>1,2,4,6,11</sub>Rs that use mainly  $G_q$  to activate the phospholipase C $\beta$  (PLC $\beta$ )/ inositol-(1,4,5)-triphosphate (IP3) pathway and trigger the release of intracellular Ca<sup>2+</sup> and another one corresponding to the P2Y<sub>12,13,14</sub>Rs, which couple almost exclusively to  $G_i$  (Abbrachio *et al*, 2006).

A particular property of these receptors is the ability to link different G proteins and consequently trigger different signalling pathways. For instance, the  $P2Y_{11}R$  when activated by ATP leads to an increase in cAMP, IP3 and in the cytosolic Ca<sup>2+</sup> whereas activation by UTP can result in Ca<sup>2+</sup> mobilization without cAMP or IP3 increase (White *et al.*, 2003). Moreover, the

 $P2Y_{13}R$  can simultaneously couple to  $G_{16}$  and  $G_i$  proteins and, at high ADP concentrations, to  $G_s$  proteins in a way that suggests the existence of ligand-specific conformations of the receptor (Marteau *et al.*, 2003).

#### 2 - Purinergic Signaling in the adult brain

In the adult brain, A1Rs and A2ARs are the most predominant P1Rs, while A2BRs and A3Rs are at very low densities. A1Rs are present at a higher density in the cortex, cerebellum and hippocampus (Schindler *et al.*, 2001; Rebola *et al.*, 2003), and are observable in every cell type: neurons, astrocytes, microglia and oligodendrocytes (Gebicke-Haerter *et al.*, 1996; Biber *et al.*, 1997; Othman *et al.*, 2003). At the hippocampus, A1Rs are predominantly targeted to nerve terminals and mainly enriched post-synaptically (Tetzlaff *et al.*, 1987; Rebola *et al.*, 2003), where they decrease neuronal excitability through activation of potassium channels, decrease NMDA receptor currents and inhibit voltage-gated Ca<sup>2+</sup> channels (as reviewd in de Mendonca *et al.*, 2000), but are also located at the presynaptic level (Rebola *et al.* 2003) inhibiting neurotransmitter release (Dunwiddie *et al.*, 1997).

In contrast with A1Rs, A2ARs are highly concentrated in the basal ganglia, when compared to other cerebral regions (reviewed in Cunha, 2005), predominantly at higher densities at dendritic spines and post-synaptic densities (Hettinger *et al.*, 2001; Rodrigues *et al.* 2005). But they are also expressed in cortical and hippocampal regions predominantly at the presynaptic level (Rebola *et al.* 2005), where they facilitate neurotransmitter release (Cunha *et al.*, 1998) and are involved in synaptic plasticity (*e.g.* Almeida *et al.* 2003).

As previously stated A2BRs and A3Rs present a much lower density in brain regions when compared to A1Rs and A2ARs. A2BRs are mainly present in astrocytes (Allaman *et al.* 2003) and in the median eminence, being also present in neurons and glial cells of the pituitary gland, albeit in lower levels (Daly, 1977; Fredholm *et al.*, 2005). A3Rs are present in neurons (Costenla *et al.* 2001), microglia (Hammarberg *et al.* 2003) and astrocytes, with an apparently more evident function in astrocytes (Abbracchio, 1998). Regarding brain regions A3Rs are present in the cortex, the striatum, the olfactory bulb, the nucleus accumbens, the hippocampus,

the amygdala, the hypothalamus, the thalamus and the cerebellum (Fredholm et al., 2005).

P2 receptors are ubiquitously expressed in the brain, both in neuronal and glial cells (Illes and Alexandre Ribeiro, 2004; Abbracchio *et al.*, 2009). In the hippocampus, neuronal P2Rs are essentially targeted to synapses both at the pre- and postsynaptic level, where they play a neuromodulatory role through the presynaptic modulation of glutamate release (Rubio and Soto, 2001; Rodrigues *et al.*, 2005). Post-synaptically, besides a minor contribution of P2XRs to neurotransmission at Schaffer collaterals-CA1 synapses (Pankratov *et al.*, 1998), their role remains ill defined.

In astrocytes, P2Rs are expressed as well, where they modulate astrocytic function through the modulation of Ca<sup>2+</sup>-homeostasis (Gallagher and Salter, 2003; Suadicani *et al.*, 2004; Bennett *et al.*, 2005). So far it is known that P2X<sub>1,2,4,7</sub>Rs (Lalo *et al.*, 2011) and P2Y<sub>1,2,4,6,12,13</sub>R (Verkhratsky *et al.*, 2009; Butt, 2011) are present in astrocytes. Indeed, the ATP through the activation of P2 receptors seems to be one of the major players in glia-glia and neuron-glia communication (Matute and Cavaliere, 2011). Besides, they also modulate in a bidirectional manner astrocyte proliferation, increasing it through the activation of P2YRs, both *in vitro* (Ciccarelli *et al.*, 1994) and *in vivo* (Hindley *et al.*, 1994; Franke *et al.*, 1999), while the activation of P2XR was found to stop the proliferation of astrocytes (Neary *et al.*, 2005 and 2008).

P2Rs are also found in the microglia as well, where they play a role in chemotaxis and in the control of microglia reactivity (Inoue, 2008).

#### 3 - Purinergic Signaling and Neuronal Development

Purinergic signalling is an ancient signalling system (Fountain & Burnstock, 2009). This filogenetical relevance of purinergic signalling may imply for a relevant role of this signalling system in development. Indeed, both P1Rs and P2Rs and ecto-nucleotidases are expressed early on in embryogenesis. For instance, P2XRs could be identified during gastrulation (Laasberg, 1990) and P2Rs and ecto-nucleotidases are expressed in embryonic stem cells (reviewed in Zimmermann, 2011). The expression of purinergic receptors is particularly strong at mice

embryonic day 11 (E11) (Cheung *et al.*, 2003) onwards in a developmental-regulated and in some cases in a transient manner, which suggests that purinegic signalling affects stage-specific developmental processes, also suggesting that its functional significance may be even greater during development rather than in the adult nervous system (Franke & Illes, 2006; Zimmermann, 2011). However, besides a growing evidence for the involvement of purinergic signalling in neurogenesis, either modulating proliferation, differentiation and migration of progenitors cells, observations essentially obtained *in vitro* (see Liu *et al.*, 2008), the role of purinergic receptors during development remains still largely unexplored. Nevertheless, very recently, our group contributed to show that A2ARs are involved in hippocampal interneurons migration (Silva *et al.*, in press). Moreover, there is also some *in vitro* evidence indicating that purinergic receptors can also influence neuronal development, in particular neurite outgrowth. In PC12 cells it was observed that A1R inhibits neurite outgrowth (Thevananther *et al.*, 2001)

More recently, it was reported a bidirectional modulation of axonal outgrowth in developing hippocampal neurons by P2Rs. While P2Y1Rs promote axonal outgrowth, P2X7Rs inhibit axonal elongation (del Puerto *et al.*, 2012). Interestingly, it was shown that this effect is most likely mediated by signalling pathways converging in the modulation of GSK3 $\beta$  activity, an intracellular enzyme that upon activation induces growth cone collapse and arrests axonal elongation through the phosphorylation of CRMP2 (Yoshimura *et al.*, 2005), as mentioned above.

#### 4 - Purinergic Signaling and Epileptogenesis

The ubiquitous relevance of purinergic signaling in the normal adult brain suggests that any impairment or change on this signaling system may give rise to pathological consequences. In fact, over the years, various studies have reported the involvement of purinergic receptors in a wide spectrum of pathological conditions (Burnstock *et al.*, 2011). Moreover, there is now increasing evidence that support ATP and adenosine as a dangerous signal, *i.e.*, upon noxious insults such as trauma, hypoxia or ischemia there is an increase in the extracellular levels of ATP and adenosine, which, in turn, brings purinergic receptors into play during these pathological conditions. Indeed, several reports have been showing the involvement of purinergic receptors in these pathological conditions, either as a protective mechanism or its role in aggravating the deleterious conditions (reviewed in Burnstock *et al.*, 2011). The involvement of purinergic receptors have been also implicated in neurodegenerative diseases.

For instance, in Alzheimer's disease (AD) A1Rs density is significantly reduced in the hippocampus (Jansen *et al.*, 1990), alongside with an increase in A2ARs density (Albasanz *et al.*, 2008), which seems to be relevant in the etiology of the disease, as the blockade of A2ARs was shown to be neuroprotective and able to prevent memory loss in an animal model of A $\beta$ -toxicity (Canas *et al.*, 2009). In addition, it has been shown that ATP increases the vulnerability of neurons to A $\beta$  peptide-induced cell death (Haughney and Matson, 2003) and P2X7Rs seem to be also relevant in AD, since their up regulation in a mouse model of AD (Tg2576) (Parvathenani *et al.*, 2003) seems to exacerbate the inflammatory responses in AD brain associated to synaptotoxicity (Sanz *et al.*, 2009; Lee *et al.*, 2011; but see Delarasse *et al.*, 2011).

Purinergic signaling seems also to be relevant in epileptic phenomena. As reviewed in Dale and Frenguelli, 2009, epileptic seizures are apparently accompanied by a release of adenosine. In fact, high levels of adenosine and its breakdown products were observed in the rat brain after electroshock seizures (Lewin and Bleck, 1981). This report was followed by the observation that, after theophylline (P1Rs antagonist) exposure, it was possible to observe generalized convulsions (Persson and Erjefalt, 1982). These reports gave the first clues that purinergic signaling should be involved in epileptic phenomena.

Wieraszko *et al.*, 1989 reported an increase in the extracellular ATP levels in the hippocampus associated to a seizure-prone state. This is in agreement with the fact that glutamate is accompanied by ATP preferentially upon high-frequency stimulation in the hippocampus (Cunha *et al.*, 1996), the brain region mostly affected in temporal lobe epilepsy. Moreover it was observed that the injection of ATP analogs caused a generalized motor seizure (Knutsen *et al.*, 1997). These evidences indicate that extracellular ATP and/or adenosine are not only present during seizures, but may be also contributing to seizures. Accordingly, it was found an upregulation of P2X7Rs in the hippocampus of pilocarpine-induced epileptic rats (Vianna *et al.*, 2002) and our group has also observed an increase in the density of P2Y1R in the hippocampus upon SE-induction with KA (Oses *et al.*, 2006), an increase also recently reported to be observed in the hippocampus of patients with temporal lobe epilepsy (Padrao *et al.*, 2011). Furthermore, several evidences obtained previously in our group showed that the

pharmacological blockade or genetic deletion of the P2Y1R attenuates/prevents SE-induced hippocampal neuronal death, astrogliosis, microgliosis and synaptic loss (unpublished results).

Altogether, these evidences indicate that purinergic signaling and in particular the P2Y1Rs are operational during epileptogenesis. Moreover, as mentioned above, it was recently reported that P2Y1R bolsters axonal growth in developing hippocampal neurons and, more importantly, there is a mechanistic convergence between P2Y1R and KAR in the modulation of axonal development, *i.e.* through the modulation of GSK3 $\beta$ . This evidence strongly indicates that P2Y1R should be contributing to hippocampal mossy fiber sprouting, fulfilling the criteria previously defined to be considered a potential target to arrest mossy fiber sprouting: 1) P2Y1R is operational during epileptogenesis and 2) capable of modulating axonal outgrowth most likely through the modulation of CRMP2 function.

Aim

• Characterization of the role of P2Y1Rs in the establishment of neuronal polarity (axon specification) and axonal growth in mice developing hippocampal neurons: mechanistically relevance of CRMP2 protein.

• Role of P2Y1Rs-CRMP2 in the hippocampal MF sprouting in the KAanimal model of TLE.

**Materials and Methods** 

#### 1. Animals used

The primary cultures of hippocampal neurons were prepared from 18-19 day-old Wistar rat embryos handled according to European guidelines for use of experimental animals. The progenitors were anesthetized under halothane atmosphere and subsequently sacrificed by decapitation. For the animal model of temporal lobe epilepsy male Wistar rats (8-10 weeks old and weighting between 250-300 g) were used, handled according to European guidelines.

#### 2. Rat hippocampal neurons

As previously described, the primary cultures of hippocampal neurons were obtained from 18-19 day-old Wistar rat embryos. The hippocampus were dissected and placed in Hank's Balanced Salt Solution (HBSS) (0.8% NaCl, 0.035% NaHCO<sub>3</sub>, 0.006% KH<sub>2</sub>PO<sub>4</sub>, 0.04% KCl, 1% glucose, 0.014% CaCl<sub>2</sub>, 0.0048% Na<sub>2</sub>HPO<sub>4</sub>, 0.0098% MgSO<sub>4</sub>, Fenol Red 2% and at pH=7). After the complete removal of the meninges, the tissue was washed and incubated in HBSS containing 10% trypsin and 1% DNAse for 15 min. at 37°C. The enzyme activity was stopped using 5 mL of DMEM medium (empresa) with 10% foetal bovineserum (FBS) (empresa) and 1% penicilin/streptomycin (P/S) (empresa) The hippocampi was then transferred to 2 mL of DMEM medium and the cells were mechanically dissociated through a 1 mL pipette and centrifuged at 10000rpm for 5min. The pellet was ressuspended in DMEM (31996) with 10% FBS, 1%P/S and were plated in poly-lysine 0.1mg/mL (Sigma) and laminine 0.01mg/mL (Sigma) coated 12 mm diameter coverslips or 6 wells dishes at different densities: 10,000 cells per coverslip for immunocytochemistry assays and  $5 \times 10^5$  cells per well for Western Blot analysis. Two hours after plating, cells were incubated with the drugs and cultured in Neurobasal medium (GIBCO, BRL, Life Technologies, Scotland, UK), supplemented with 0.25% glutamine, 0.25% glutamate, 2% B27 supplement and 1% P/S, at 37°C in a humidified atmosphere of 5% CO<sub>2</sub> and 95% O<sub>2</sub>.

At 3 DIV, cells were fixed with 4% warmed paraformaldehyde for immunocytochemical assays and morphological analysis. At 6 DIV, protein extracts were collected by scraping the cells into 100  $\mu$ L of cell lysis buffer (10 mM Tris–HCl, 10 mM EDTA, 1% TritonX-100, 0.1% SDS and protease inhibitors [Roche Diagnostics]; pH 7.4). The protein concentration was determined using the bicinchoninic acid (BCA) protein assay reagent (Pierce Biotechnology).

#### 3. Animal model of temporal lobe epilepsy

One of the best characterized animal model of mesial temporal lobe epilepsy (TLE) is the systemic or local administration of kainic acid, an AMPAR/KAR agonist, which induces acute seizure episodes and subsequent development of recurrent spontaneous seizures, the hallmark of epilepsy, and similar hippocampus sclerosis and mossy fiber sprouting to those observed in humans (Nadler, 2003). Seizures induced by kindling have been classified into five stages based on clinical signs and this scale was later adopted to describe seizures in other animal models of epilepsy (Racine, 1972). According to the Racine's scale to monitor rat behavior immediately after chemoconvulsant-induced seizures, there are five stages to be considered: stage I- facial automatisms; stage II- head nodding; stage III- forelimb clonus and lordotic posture; stage IV-forelimb clonus as the animal rears; stage V- forelimb clonus and rearing with falling over or loss of the righting reflex. Stages III, IV and V, together with "wet-dog" shake movements, are considered motor or convulsive seizures and should happen until two hours after KA injection to guarantee hippocampal neuronal degeneration.

#### 3.1. Experimental procedure in the animal model of temporal lobe epilepsy

This model was performed using adult maleWistar rats (weighting 250-300 g). Animals were separated into 6 different groups: the saline group, which received artificial cerebrospinal fluid (aCSF, 124 mM NaCl, 3 mM KCl, 1.25 mM NaH2PO4, 10 mM glucose, 26 mM NaHCO3, 1 mM MgCl2 and 2 mM CaCl2) *icv* and saline (SAL, 0.9 % NaCl) *ip*; the kainate group, which received aCSF *icv* and 10 mg/kg kainate (KA) *ip*; the PPADS + KA group, that received 1 nmol/4  $\mu$ l PPADS *icv* and 10 mg/kg kainate *ip*; the MRS2500 + KA group, that received 1 nmol/4  $\mu$ l MRS2500 *icv* and 10 mg/kg kainate *ip* and, finally, the PPADS and MRS2500 groups that received 1 nmol/4  $\mu$ l PPADS or MRS2500 *icv* and SAL *ip*. Three days before the *ip* administration of kainate or saline, the animals were anaesthetized with sodium thiopental 50 mg/kg *ip* and placed in a stereotaxic apparatus. The skull was opened and a guide cannula (CMA11 guide cannula) was introduced into the lateral ventricle and fixed to the skull with the help of two drills and cement at the following coordinates relative to Bregma: -0,8 mm anteroposterior; -1,5 mm lateral and -3,5 mm dorso-ventral. On the *icv* injection day, animals were

taken into a needle (4.2 mm length, 26-guage) connected to a PE 50 polyethylene tube. After unscrewing the cap, the needle was gently inserted through the guide cannula, 1 mm bellow, into the ventricle and drugs or saline were slowly manually infused. Administration was done at the rate of 0.5  $\mu$ l/ min. At the end of the injection, the needle remained in place for 3 min before being slowly removed from the cannula, to avoid reflux. The convulsive behavior was monitorized for 3h after KA injection and classified according to the Racine's scale. Only the animals reaching stage4-5 were used. Twenty-four hours later, hippocampi were removed for total protein extract preparation for Western blot analyses.

#### 4. Total protein extracts

. Animals were sacrificed and hippocampi isolated as previously described. The tissue was homogenised in a 0.32 M sucrose solution containing 1 mM EDTA, 10 mM HEPES and 1 mg/ml BSA, pH7.4 at 4 °C. Then, the homogenates were centrifuged at 3000g for 10 min, at 4 °C. The pellet (P1) was discarded and the supernatant (S1) was further centrifuged at 100,000 x g for 30 min at 4 °C. The supernatants (S2) were discarded and the pellet (P2), correspondent essentially to total cytoplasmic membranes, was resuspended in a 5% Sodium Dodecyl Sulphate (SDS) solution with 0.1 mM PMSF. The protein concentration was determined using the bicinchoninic acid (BCA) protein assay reagent (Pierce Biotechnology).

#### 5. Western Blot analysis

Protein extracts either from hippocampal cultured neurons or total hippocampal protein extracts were diluted in 6x SDS-PAGE sample buffer (0.35 M Tris, 30% glycerol, 10% SDS, 0.6 M DTT, 0.012% bromophenol blue, pH 6.8), boiled at 95 °C for 10 min and then separated by 12% SDS-polyacrilamide gel electrophoresis (12% resolving gel with a 4% stacking gel). The phosphorylated form of CRMP2 protein at Thr514was detected using the rabbit antibody against p-CRMP2<sup>T514</sup> (Cell Signaling; 1:500) in TBS-T with 5% BSA . The phosphorylated form of GSK3 $\beta$  at Ser9 was detected using the rabbit antibody against p-GSK3 $\beta$ <sup>S9</sup> (Abcam; 1:1000) in TBS-T with 5% PhosphoBLOCKER Blocking Reagent (Cell Biolabs). Total CRMP2 protein was detected using a rabbit antibody against GSK3 $\beta$  (Abcam; 1:500) in TBS-T with 5% milk. Total GSK3 $\beta$  was detected using a rabbit antibody against GSK3 $\beta$  (Abcam; 1:500) in TBS-T with 5% milk. A rabbit antibody against GAPDH (Abcam; 1:1000) was used as a loading control. The

membranes were incubated with horseradish peroxidase (HRP)-conjugated goat anti-rabbit secondary antibodies (Pierce; 1:5000), followed by incubation with SuperSignal West Pico Chemiluminescent Substrate (Pierce) in the case of total CRMP2and GAPDH or with Luminata Forte Western HRP Substrate (Millipore) in the case of p-CRMP2<sup>T555</sup>, p-CRMP2<sup>T514,</sup> GSK3 $\beta$ , p-GSK3 $\beta$ <sup>S9</sup> and visualized using the VersaDoc 3000 system by chemiluminescense and analyzed using Quantity One software (BioRad, Portugal).

#### 6. Immunocytochemistry in rat hippocampal neurons

Cultured hippocampal neurons fixed at 3 DIV were washed 3x with phosphate buffered saline medium (PBS, in mM: 140 NaCl, KCl, 26 NaH2PO4, 15 KH2PO4, pH 7.4) and permeabilized with PBS 0.2% Triton X-100 for 10 min. After washing twice with PBS, cells were blocked with PBS 3% BSA for 30 minutes to avoid non-specific binding and then incubated with primary antibodies in blocking solution for 1 h at room temperature (RT)Cells were incubated with mouse anti-Smi-31 R-100 (1:1000, Covance)as an axonal marker, rabbit anti-  $\beta$ -III-tubulin (1:1000, Empresa) as a neuronal marker. After washing 3x with PBS, cells were incubated with the Alexa-488 conjugated donkey anti-mouse and Alexa-555 donkey anti-rabbit antibodies (1:400; Invitrogen) for 1 h at RT. Coverslips were mounted into slides on DAPI-supplemented mounting medium (Vectashield, Vector Laboratories) and visualized using Zeiss Axiovert 200 fluorescence microscope equipped with AxioCam HRc. Images were acquired using Neurolucida software (MBF Bioscience).

#### 7. Data presentation and statistical analyses

All the presented data are mean  $\pm$  S.E.M. of *n* experiments. Axonal length was expressed as relative values in relation to respective control conditions as fold change quantified from a minimum of 100 cells per condition per culture, taken as single measurements. Modifications in the phosphorylation levels observed by Western blot were also presented as fold change in relation to respective control conditions. The effects presented as relative data were analyzed by one-sample *t*-test comparing with hypothetical value of 1 (control condition). Group differences were analyzed using unpaired *t*-test to compare two independent groups and one-way ANOVA to compare several independent groups as in the number of axons per neuron, also quantified from a minimum of 100 cells per condition per culture. When the ANOVA provided significant general group effect, Dunnet's *post-hoc* test was used to compare different groups with the control group. The distribution of the neurons with different number of axons was represented as percentages, quantified from a minimum of 100 cells per condition per culture, taken as single measurements. The impact of the conditions tested on the percentage of neurons with different number of axons was performed using two-way ANOVA. Whenever an interaction was found significant, *post-hoc* comparisons were performed with Bonferroni's *post-hoc* test. In all the analysis performed, a family-wise 95% confidence levels (p<0.05) was applied. All data processing and analysis were performed with GraphPad Prism 5.0 software (Graphpad).

Results

## **1** – Role of purinergic signaling in the establishment of neuronal polarity (axon specification and axonal outgrowth in rat hippocampal neurons

#### 1.1 - P2Y1Rs promote while P2X7Rs inhibt axonal growth in rat hippocampal neurons

The first aim of this study was to evaluate if the previously shown modulation of axonal growth in developing hippocampal neurons by P2Rs through the modulation of GSK3 $\beta$  activity (del-Puerto *et al.*, 2012) also involved the downstream regulation of CRMP2 protein. For that purpose, we first attempted to confirm that P2Y1R promotes, while P2X7R inhibits axonal growth in rat hippocampal neurons as previously described (del-Puerto *et al.*, 2012). As shown in Figure 2, it was observed an increase in the axon length in neurons cultured in the presence of ADP $\beta$ S (5  $\mu$ M), an agonist of P2Y1R, P2Y12R and P2Y13R. The observation of a prevention of this increase in the presence of the selective antagonist of P2Y1Rs, MRS2179 (10  $\mu$ M), shows that this increase in axonal length is induced by P2Y1R activation (Figure 2). Moreover, neurons cultured in the presence of MRS2179 (10  $\mu$ M) presented a significant lower axonal length



Figure 2. P2Y1R promotes, while P2X7R inhibits axonal growth in rat hippocampal neurons. (A) Representative images of rat hippocampal neurons (3 DIV) in untreated conditions and cultured in the presence of ADP $\beta$ S (5  $\mu$ M), immunolabeled with an anti-SMI-31 antibody (yellow; axonal marker) and anti-\beta-III-tubulin (blue; neuronal marker). Colocalization appears as white. Scale bars are 50 µm. (B) Histogram summarizing the axonal length quantification. The selective agonist of P2Y1R, P2Y12R and P2Y13R, ADPβS (5 μM), increased the axonal length. This effect was prevented in the presence of the selective antagonist of P2Y1R, MRS2179 (10 μM) (p>0.05, unpaired t-test ADPβS + MRS2179 vs. MRS2179), which reduced axonal length by itself. The blockade of P2X7R with the selective antagonist brilliant blue G (BBG; 100 nM) increased axonal length. The data are expressed as the fold change (mean  $\pm$  s.e.m.) relative to untreated cells quantified from 4different cultures, analyzing a minimum of 100 cells per condition and culture. \*p<0.05, \*\*p<0.01 and \*\*\*p<0.001, one-sample ttest.

showing for the existence of a tonic action of P2Y1R promoting axonal growth. On the other hand, the presence of a selective antagonist of P2X7R, brilliant blue G (BBG; 100 nM), induced an increase in the axonal length showing a tonic inhibitory action of P2X7R in axonal outgrowth (Figure 2).



hippocampal neurons. (A) Representative Western Blot obtained from cultured neurons exposed to ADPBS (5 µM), MRS2179(5 µM) MRS2179  $(10 \ \mu\text{M}) + \text{ADP}\beta\text{S}$  (5  $\mu\text{M}$ ). Bands showing GSK3 $\beta$ , phosphorylated GSK3 $\beta$ at S9, CRMP2, phosphorylated CRMP2 at T514 all loaded with GPDAH. (B) Histogram summarizing the ratios of phosphorylation (p-proteint:total protein) of either GSK3b at Ser9 (p-GSK3bS9) or CRMP2 at Thr514 (p-CRMP2T514) ADPBS, a selective agonist of P2Y1R, P2Y12R and P2Y13R, induced an increase in the phosphorylation of GSK3 $\beta$  at S9 (at 5  $\mu$ M and 10  $\mu$ M) a decrease in the phosphorylation of CRMP2 at T514 (at 5  $\mu$ M but not at 10 µM), effects prevented in the presence of the selective antagonist of P2Y1R, MRS2179 (p>0.2 ADPbS+MRS2179 vs. MRS2179 for both proteins, unpaired t-test, n=4). Neurons cultured in the presence of MRS2179 (10 µM) alone presented a decrease in the phosphorylation of GSK3ß at S9 and a corresponding increase in the phosphorylation of CRMP2 at T514. The data are expressed as the fold change (mean  $\pm$  s.e.m.) relative to untreated cells quantified from 4 different cultures. \*p<0.05 and \*\*p<0.01.

Altogether, these results are concordant with the results previously reported (del-Puerto *et al.*, 2012), showing a bidirectional receptor-dependent modulation of axonal growth, promoting through P2Y1R and inhibiting through P2X7R.

#### 1.2 – P2Y1R decreases the phosphorylation levels of CRMP2 at Thr514

It was previously shown that either the promotion of axonal growth by P2Y1R involved the inhibition of GSK3 $\beta$ activity by inducing an increase in the phosphorylation levels at the inhibitory phosphorylation site Ser9 (del-Puerto *et al.*, 2012). By Western Blot analysis, we could also observe that ADP $\beta$ S (5 µM and 10 µM) increased the levels of p-GSK3 $\beta$ <sup>S9</sup>, an effect

prevented by the selective antagonist of P2Y1R, MRS2179 (10  $\mu$ M) (Figure 3- left bars). Moreover, MRS2179 alone induced a reduction in the levels of p-GSK3 $\beta$ <sup>S9</sup> (Figure 3), showing once again a tonic action of P2Y1R, as observed regarding axonal length (see Figure 2).

As mentioned before, GSK3 $\beta$  modulates axonal growth through the downstream regulation of CRMP2 protein (Yoshimura et al., 2005). CRMP2 is a cytosolic phosphoprotein crucial in neuronal development, being essential to the establishment of neuronal polarity (axon specification), axonal growth and guidance. Two different and independent phosphorylation pathways of CRMP2 protein have been described: one operated by Cdk5 at Ser522 (priming kinase) and GSK3ß at Thr514 (Uchida et al., 2005) and the other one by Rho kinase or directly by PKC at Thr555 (Arimura et al., 2000), both inhibiting the ability of CRMP2 to promote axonal growth by disrupting CRMP2-tubulin binding, and hence microtubule assembly, resulting in growth cone collapse (Fukata et al. 2002; Arimura et al., 2005; Yoshimura et al., 2005). This prompt the hypothesis that the promotion of axonal elongation by P2Y1R involves the desinhibition of CRMP2 through the dephosphorylation at Thr514, reflecting the inhibition of GSK3 $\beta$ . Indeed, we could observe that ADP $\beta$ S (5  $\mu$ M and 10  $\mu$ M) that increased the levels of p-GSK3 $\beta^{S9}$ , reduced concomitantly the phosphorylation levels of CRMP2<sup>T514</sup>, once again an effect no longer observed in the presence of MRS2179 (10  $\mu$ M). Similarly, we could once again observe a tonic action of P2Y1R, since MRS2179 alone induced an increase in the levels of p-CRMP2<sup>T514</sup>. These data suggest that P2Y1R-induced inhibition of GSK3β promotes axonal growth through the downstream desinhibition of CRMP2.

#### 1.3 – Purinergic signaling affects neuronal polarity

To further test the effects of endogenous ATP, neurons were cultured in the presence of apyrase (3.6.1.5.), an enzyme that catabolizes ATP and ADP into AMP (as reviewed in Clark and Roux, 2011). Surprisingly, we observed a significant increase in the number of axons per neuron (Figure 4B) and in the percentage of neurons with more than one axon (Fig.4C), which shows for the first time that purinergic signaling is involved in the establishment of neuronal polarity in rat hippocampal neurons.



Figure 4. Apyrase induces the formation of secondary axons in rat hippocampal neurons. (A) Representative images of rat hippocampal neuron (3 DIV) in untreated conditions and cultured in the presence of apyrase, immunolabeled with and anti-SMI-31 antibody (yellow, axonal marker) and antiβ-III-tubulin (blue, neuronal marker). Colocalization appears as white. Scale bars are 50µm. (B) Histogram summarizing the axons per neuron in untreated cultures and in cultures exposed to apyrase. Apyrase induced an increase in the number of axons per neuron and (C) an increase in the percentage of cells with more than one axon. The data are expressed as mean  $\pm$  s.e.m. of the number of axons in (B) and of the percentage of neurons with different number of axons in (C) quantified from 4 different cultures, analyzing a minimum of 100 cells per condition and culture, taken as single measurements. \*\*\*p<0.01 one sample t-test in (B) and \*p<0.05 two-way ANOVA with Bonferroni's *post-hoc* test in (C).

# **1.3.1.** A2AR activation induces the formation of secondary axons in rat hippocampal neurons.

The formation of secondary axons induced by apyrase could be due or to a reduced/lack of activation of P2Rs (lower levels of ATP and ADP) or to an increase in the activation of P1Rs, either A1R or A2AR (higher levels of adenosine). The first hypothesis would be feasible since it was shown that GSK3 $\beta$ -CRMP2 pathway is also involved in neuronal polarization/axon specification (Yoshimura *et al.*, 2005). However, neither the selective antagonist of P2Y1R, MRS2179 (10  $\mu$ M), nor the selective antagonist of P2X7R (BBG 100 nM), nor the generic antagonist of P2R (PPADS 10  $\mu$ M), mimicked the effect of apyrase (Figure 5). The second hypothesis was that this increase in the number of secondary axons was due to an increased activation of adenosine P1Rs due to the expected higher levels of extracellular adenosine. Indeed, we found that the activation of A2AR with the selective agonist CGS21680 (30 nM), but not of A1R with the selective agonist CPA (100 nM), mimicked the effect of apyrase, increasing also significantly the number of axons per neuron (Figure 6A) and the percentage of neurons with more than one axon (Figure 6B).



Figure 5. Blockade of P2Rs did not induce the formation of secondary axons. (A) Neither the selective antagonist of P2Y1R, MRS2179 (10 µM), nor the selective antagonist of BBG (100 nM), nor a generic antagonist of P2R, PPADS (10µM mimicked neither the increase in the number of axons per neuron (B) nor the increase in the percentage of neurons with more than one axon induced by apyrase (20 U/mL). The data are expressed (mean  $\pm$  s.e.m.) of the number of axons per neurons in (A) and the percentage of neurons with different number of axons in (B) from 4 different cultures, analyzing a minimum of 100 cells per condition and culture. \*\*p<0.01 one-sample ttest in (A) and p < 0.05 two-way ANOVA with Bonferroni's post-hoc test

#### 1.3.2 - P1Rs differentially regulate the phosphorylation of CRMP2<sup>T514</sup>

The observation of a mechanistic convergence in the bidirectional receptor-dependent modulation of axonal growth by P2Rs, involving a differential regulation of GSK3 $\beta$  activity and most likely of CRMP2 phosphorylation, together with the well know role of GSK3 $\beta$ -CRMP2 pathway in axon formation (Yoshimura *et al.*, 2005), we decided to test if adenosine P1Rs also modulate the phosphorylation levels of GSK3 $\beta$ <sup>S9</sup> and CRMP2<sup>T514</sup>Western Blot analysis showed that the GSK3 $\beta$ -CRMP2 pathway is also targeted by adenosine P1Rs, being differentially regulated by A2ARs and A1R. While A2ARs activation (CGS21680 30 nM)induced an increase in the phosphorylation of GSK3 $\beta$ <sup>S9</sup> and a reduction in the phosphorylation of CRMP2<sup>T514</sup>, A1R activation (CPA 100 nM) induced a decrease in the phosphorylation of GSK3 $\beta$ <sup>S9</sup> and an increase in CRMP2<sup>T514</sup> (Figure 7). These data show that purinergic signaling is not only capable to modulate axonal outgrowth through the activation of P2Rs (and eventually through P1Rs; see discussion), but is also involved in neuronal polarization by the regulation of axon specification through A2ARs.





Figure 7. Activation or blockade of A1Rs and A2ARs differentially regulates the phosphorilation pattern of GSK3β and CRMP2 in rat hippocampal neurons. (A) Representative Western Blot obtained from cultured neurons exposed to apyrase (20U/mL), the selective A2AR agonist CGS21680 (30nM) and the selective A2AR antagonist SCH58261 (50nM). Bands showing GSK3β, phosphorylated GSK3β at S9, CRMP2, phosphorylated CRMP2 at T514 all loaded with GPDAH. (B) Histogram summarizing the ratios of phosphorylation (p-proteint:total protein) of either GSK3B at Ser9 (p-GSK3bS9) or CRMP2 at Thr514 (p-CRMP2T514). CGS21680, a selective agonist of A2ARs, induced an increase in the phosphorylation of GSK3ß at S9 and a decrease in the phosphorylation of CRMP2 at T514. The selective A2AR antagonist, SCH58261, presented no significant effects. The specific A1R agonist significantly decreased the phosphorylation of GSK3ß and increased the phosphorylation of CRMP2. The selective A1R antagonist only presented a significant decrease in the phosphorylation of CRMP2. The data are expressed as the fold change (mean ± s.e.m.) relative to untreated cells quantified from 4 different cultures. \*p<0.05



#### 2 . P2Y1R-CRMP2 signaling module in KA-animal model of temporal lobe epilepsy

It was recently reported an increase in the phosphorylated form of  $GSK3\beta^{S9}$  and an increase of CRMP2 density in the hippocampus of animals injected with pilocarpine (Lee et al., 2012), which can be involved in mossy fiber sprouting (see Wilson et al., 2012). We now observed in developing hippocampal neurons that in addition to the increase in the phosphorylation of GSK3 $\beta^{S9}$ , P2Y1R induces a dephosphorylation of CRMP2<sup>T514</sup>. In addition, as mentioned before, our group could gather several evidence showing that the pharmacological blockade or genetic deletion of P2Y1R prevents neuronal death, astrogliosis and neuroinflammation caused by SE-induction by systemic administration of KA in rats (unpublished results), indicating that P2Y1R is operational during epileptogenesis. Altogether these evidences prompt the hypothesis that P2Y1R-GSK3b-CRMP2 found in developing hippocampal neurons may be reactivated during epileptogenesis and may be inducing/contributing to the abnormal mossy fiber sprouting. To test this hypothesis we first aimed to evaluate if the SE-induced modifications in GSK3β-CRMP2 pathway involved P2Y1R activation. For that purpose, we evaluated if the modifications in the phosphorylation state of either GSK3 $\beta^{S9}$  or CRMP2<sup>T514</sup> in the hippocampus induced by SE could be prevented with the blockade of P2Y1R. We used the systemic administration of KA to induce SE because we had previously observed a P2Y1R activity in this animal model of TLE. However, Western Blot analysis revealed an unexpected increase in the truncated form of CRMP2 of 55 kDa (Figure 8) and concomitant reduction in CRMP2A (70 kDa) and CRMP2B (62 kDa) levels, known to be a consequence of excitotoxicity (Bretin et al. 2006), in the hippocampus 24 h after KA injection, in contrary to the reported in the pilocarpine-model (Lee et al., 2012). This observation impaired the use of the KA-animal model to evaluate the involvement of P2Y1R-GSK3β-CRMP2 in hippocampal mossy fiber sprouting, being the pilocarpine-injection a better model to explore that hypothesis. Nevertheless, we could observe that the *icv* injection of the selective antagonist of P2Y1R, MRS2500 (1 nmol), prior to KA administration prevented the KA-induced cleavage of CRMP2 (Figure 8) showing that P2Y1R is required in excitotoxicity-induced cleavage of CRMP2. This prevention was not mimicked by the injection of the generic P2Rs antagonist, PPADS (1 nmol *icv*), probably due to the action of other P2Rs with opposing effects regarding P2Y1R.

As mentioned before, our group could gather several phenomenological evidences showing a neuroprotective action of the blockade of P2Y1R in KA-induced excitotoxicity (unpublished data). This observation not only constitutes an additional evidence for a crucial role of P2Y1R in excitotoxicity, but also provides a first hint regarding the mechanism underlying it, because it was reported that CRMP2 cleavage is mediated by calpain activity (Bretin *et al.*, 2006), which is responsible for SE-induced neuronal death (Araujo *et al.*, 2008).



To confirm that P2Y1R is involved in the SE-induced calpain activity, we evaluated if the blockade of P2Y1R was also able to attenuate/prevent the cleavage of spectrin, a well-known calpain substrate (Araujo *et al.* 2005). As previously reported (Araujo *et al.*, 2005 and 2008), using an antibody against full-length spectrin that also recognizes spectrin breakdown products (SBDP) (Nath *et al.* 1996), we observed a significant increase in the calpain-dependent 145 kDa SBDP in the hippocampus 24 h after the systemic administration of KA (Figure 9). The pharmacological blockade of P2Y1R attenuated the KA-induced formation of SBDP, similarly to the observed for CRMP2 (see Figure 9C). These results together with the previous data obtained by our group demonstrate that SE-induced neuronal death through calpain activity requires P2Y1R.



**Figure 9.** Cleavage of the calpain substrate spectrin involves P2Y1R activation. (**A**) Representative Western blots using an antibody against full-length spectrin also labelling spectrin breakdown products (SBDP) of total protein extracts of the hippocampus 24 h upon the *ip* injection of either Saline (0.9% NaCl) or KA (10 mg/kg) together with the *icv* injection either with ACSF, MRS2500 (1 nmol) or PPADS (1 nmol), 15 min before. (**B**) Systemic administration of KA increased significantly the ratio SBDP/Spectrin, an effect attenuated by the selective antagonist of P2Y1R, MRS2500, but not by the generic P2Rs antagonist PPADS (C) similarly to the observed for CRMP2. Data are presented as mean  $\pm$  s.e.m. of the relative distribution of SBDP and full-length spectrin in (**B**). \**p*<0.05, \*\*\*\**p*<0.0001 *n*=4, two-way ANOVA with Bonferroni's *post-hoc* test. In (**C**) it is plotted the individual relative distribution obtained in each individual rat of CRMP2 55 kDa *vs*. SBDP.

Discussion

The present study further highlights the mechanisms involved in the P2Y1R-driven promotion of axonal outgrowth in developing hippocampal neurons, also unveiling a new role of purinergic signaling in neuronal development in the regulation of neuronal polarity. Furthermore, it also re-enforces the involvement of P2Y1R in excitotoxicity, particularly showing that P2Y1R is required for SE-induced calpain activity

The bidirectional receptor-dependent modulation of axonal growth in developing hippocampal neurons through facilitatory P2Y1R and inhibitory P2X7R previously reported (del Puerto *et al.* 2012) was reproduced successfully. It was also reported that this modulation involves a differential regulation of GSK3 $\beta$  through the modulation of the phosphorylation at S9. We now provide evidence that P2Y1R not only increases the phosphorylation of GSK3 $\beta$  target in the also induces the dephosphorylation of CRMP2, previously shown to be the GSK3 $\beta$  target in the modulation of axonal growth (Yoshimura *et al.*, 2005). Hence, these data support the following working hypothesis: P2Y1 receptor activation should promote axonal outgrowth through the dephosphorylation and hence desinhibiton of CRMP2, reflecting the upstream inhibition of GSK3 $\beta$ . Further experiments should be now done to get a functional causal demonstration for this working hypothesis.

In this study we could also find that besides the modulation of axonal outgrowth, purinergic signaling is also capable to modulate neuronal polarity. We observe that the catabolism of ATP and ADP into adenosine by apyrase induces the formation of secondary aberrant axons. This should be due to increased levels of extracellular adenosine since this effect was mimicked by pharmacological activation of A2AR. This data demonstrates for the first time that purinergic signaling has a broader modulatory role in neuronal development, not only modulating axonal growth, being also involved in axon specification, in receptor-dependent manner. Interestingly, this A2AR-induced formation of secondary axons should also converge mechanistically in the modulation of GSK3β-CRMP2, previously shown to be also involved in axon formation (Yoshimura *et al.*, 2005), since we observed that pharmacological activation of A2ARs induces similar modifications in the phosphorylation pattern of GSK3β and CRMP2 as observed upon P2Y1R activation. However, P2Y1R activation did not induce the formation of secondary axons. A possible explanation for this apparent discrepancy should rely on a differential subcellular and time-dependent expression of both receptors. While A2ARs should be expressed at the neurites before differentiation, P2Y1R should be only expressed upon the

specification/differentiation of the neurites into axons. It was previously shown that P2Y1R is localized at the axonal tip. We are now attempting to address if there is a differential time- and maturation-dependent expression of both A2AR and P2Y1R.

As mentioned before, the evidences showing that (1)P2Y1R is operational during epileptogenesis, (2) GSK3 $\beta$ -CRMP2 pathway is most likely involved in aberrant axonal sprouting in epileptic phenomena (Wilson *et al.*, 2012; Lee *et al.*, 2012) and (3) P2Y1R promotes axonal outgrowth through the inhibition of GSK3 $\beta$ , prompt the hypothesis that P2Y1R may be contributing to hippocampal mossy fiber sprouting through GSK3 $\beta$ -CRMP2 pathway. Indeed we now found that in developing hippocampal neurons that P2Y1R also regulates CRMP2 phosphorylation. To address this hypothesis we first attempted to evaluate if the modifications in the phosphorylation pattern of GSK3 $\beta$  and CRMP2 induced by SE, recently reported using the pilocarpine-animal model (Lee *et al.*, 2012), involved P2Y1R. However, the use of KA-animal model revealed not appropriate for that purpose since it induces the cleavage of CRMP2, in contrary to the observed in the pilocarpine-induced SE model. Nevertheless, we could observe that P2Y1R is required in the SE-induction of cleavage of CRMP2, an effect mediated by calpain activity, which further re-enforces the group's previous findings that the blockade of P2Y1R is neuroprotective in excitotoxicity conditions by preventing/attenuating calpain activity.

Regarding the role of P2Y1R-CRMP2 signaling module in mossy fiber sprouting, we are now using the pilocarpine-animal model of TLE. Moreover, it should be noticed that our group could also gather evidences that also the blockade of A2ARs is neuroprotective in SE-induced hippocampal neuronal death, which is also indicative that besides P2Y1Rs, A2ARs are also active during epileptogenesis. Hence, the observation that A2ARs induces the formation of aberrant secondary axons in developing hippocampal neurons, most likely through CRMP2 regulation as well, adds A2ARs as an additional potential target to be involved in mossy fiber sprouting through the modulation of mossy fiber sprouting.

## References

Abbracchio, MP and Burnstock, G (1994). "Purinoceptors: are there families of P2X and P2Y purinoceptors?" Pharmacol Ther 64(3): 445-475.

Abbracchio, Stefania Ceruti, Roberta Brambilla, Daniela Barbieri, Alessandra Camurri, Claudio Franceschi, Anna Maria Giammarioli, Kenneth A. Jacobson, Flaminio Cattabeni, Walter Malorni (1998) "Adenosine A<sub>3</sub> receptors and viability of astrocytes" Sixth International Symposium on Adenosine and Adenine Nucleotides: New Frontiers in the Third Millenium 45(3-4): 379–386

Abdipranoto A, Liu GJ, Werry EL, Bennett MR (2003) "Mechanisms of secretion of ATP from cortical astrocytes triggered by uridine triphosphate" Neuroreport.14(17):2177-81.

Agresti, C, Meomartini, ME, Amadio, S, Ambrosini, E, Serafini, B, Franchini, L, Volonte, C, Aloisi, F and Visentin, S (2005). "Metabotropic P2 receptor activation regulates oligodendrocyte progenitor migration and development." Glia 50(2): 132-144.

Ana Rita Costenla, Luísa V. Lopes, Alexandre de Mendonça (2001) "A functional role for adenosine  $A_3$  receptors: modulation of synaptic plasticity in the rat hippocampus" Neuroscience Letters 302(1): 53–57

Annette Nicke, Daniel Kerschensteiner, Florentina Soto (2005) "Biochemical and functional evidence for heteromeric assembly of  $P2X_1$  and  $P2X_4$  subunits" Journal of Neurochemistry 92(4): 925–933

Arimura N, Ménager C, Kawano Y, Yoshimura T, Kawabata S, Hattori A, Fukata Y, Amano M, Goshima Y, Inagaki M, Morone N, Usukura J, Kaibuchi K (2005) "Phosphorylation by Rho kinase regulates CRMP-2 activity in growth cones" Mol Cell Biol. 25(22):9973-84.

Atkinson, L, Milligan, CJ, Buckley, NJ and Deuchars, J (2002). "An ATP-gated ion channel at the cell nucleus." Nature 420(6911): 42.

B. F. King, A. Townsend-Nicholson, S. S. Wildman, T. Thomas, K. M. Spyer, and G. Burnstock (2000) "Coexpression of Rat P2X<sub>2</sub> and P2X<sub>6</sub>Subunits in Xenopus Oocytes" The Journal of Neuroscience 20(13): 4871-4877;

Ballerini P, Di Iorio P, Ciccarelli R, Nargi E, D'Alimonte I, Traversa U, Rathbone MP, Caciagli F. (2002) "Glial cells express multiple ATP binding cassette proteins which are involved in ATP release." Neuroreport. 13(14):1789-92.

Bennett, MR, Farnell, L and Gibson, WG (2005). "A quantitative model of purinergic junctional transmission of calcium waves in astrocyte networks." Biophys J 89(4): 2235-2250.

Biber, K, Klotz, KN, Berger, M, Gebicke-Harter, PJ and van Calker, D (1997). "Adenosine A1 receptor-mediated activation of phospholipase C in cultured astrocytes depends on the level of receptor expression." J Neurosci 17(13): 4956-4964.

Burnstock, G (2006). "Purinergic signalling--an overview." Novartis Found Symp 276: 26-48; discussion 48-57, 275-281.

Burnstock, G (2007a). "Physiology and pathophysiology of purinergic neurotransmission." Physiol Rev 87(2): 659-797

Burnstock, G (2008). "Purinergic signalling and disorders of the central nervous system." Nat Rev Drug Discov 7(7): 575-590.

Burnstock, G (2009b). "Purinergic signalling: past, present and future." Braz J Med Biol Res 42(1): 3-8.

Burnstock, G and Kennedy, C (2011). "P2X receptors in health and disease." Adv Pharmacol 61: 333- 372

Burnstock, G, Campbell, G, Satchell, D and Smythe, A (1970). "Evidence that adenosine triphosphate or a related nucleotide is the transmitter substance released by non-adrenergic inhibitory nerves in the gut." Br J Pharmacol 40(4): 668-688.

Burnstock, G, Krugel, U, Abbracchio, MP and Illes, P (2011). "Purinergic signalling: From normal behaviour to pathological brain function." Prog Neurobiol 95(2): 229-274.

Butt, AM (2011). "ATP: a ubiquitous gliotransmitter integrating neuron-glial networks." Semin Cell Dev Biol 22(2): 205-213.

Carla G. Silva, Christine Métin, Walid Fazeli, Nuno J. Machado, Sanja Darmopil, Pierre-Serge Launay, Antoine Ghestem, Marie-Pascale Nesa, Emilie Bassot, Eszter Szabó, Younis Baqi, Christa E. Müller, Angelo R. Tomé, Anton Ivanov, Dirk Isbrandt, Yuri Zilberter Rodrigo A. Cunha Monique Esclapez Christophe Bernard (2013) "Adenosine Receptor Antagonists Including Caffeine Alter Fetal Brain Development in Mice" Sci Transl Med 5(197):1126

Christian Hammarberg, Gunnar Schulte, Bertil B. Fredholm (2003) "Evidence for functional adenosine A<sub>3</sub> receptors in microglia cells" 86(4): 1051–1054,

Ciccarelli, R, Di Iorio, P, Ballerini, P, Ambrosini, G, Giuliani, P, Tiboni, GM and Caciagli, F (1994). "Effects of exogenous ATP and related analogues on the proliferation rate of dissociated primary cultures of rat astrocytes." J Neurosci Res 39(5): 556-566.

Ciccarelli, R, Di Iorio, P, Bruno, V, Battaglia, G, D'Alimonte, I, D'Onofrio, M, Nicoletti, F and Caciagli, F (1999). "Activation of A(1) adenosine or mGlu3 metabotropic glutamate receptors enhances the release of nerve growth factor and S-100beta protein from cultured astrocytes." Glia 27(3): 275-281.

Ciruela, F, Casado, V, Rodrigues, RJ, Lujan, R, Burgueno, J, Canals, M, Borycz, J, Rebola, N, Goldberg, SR, Mallol, J, Cortes, A, Canela, EI, Lopez-Gimenez, JF, Milligan, G, Lluis, C, Cunha, RA, Ferre, S and Franco, R (2006a). "Presynaptic control of striatal glutamatergic neurotransmission by adenosine A1-A2A receptor heteromers." J Neurosci 26(7): 2080-2087.

Claudio Coddou, Zonghe Yan, Tomas Obsil, J. Pablo Huidobro-Toro and Stanko S. Stojilkovic (2011) "Activation and Regulation of Purinergic P2X Receptor Channels" Pharmacological Reviews 63(3): 641-683

Coco S, Calegari F, Pravettoni E, Pozzi D, Taverna E, Rosa P, Matteoli M, Verderio C. "Storage and release of ATP from astrocytes in culture." J Biol Chem. 2003 Jan 10;278(2):1354-62.

Cotrina ML, Lin JH, López-García JC, Naus CC, Nedergaard M. (2000) "ATP-mediated glia signaling" J Neurosci. 2000 Apr 15;20(8):2835-44.

Cunha, RA (2005). "Neuroprotection by adenosine in the brain: From A(1) receptor activation to A (2A) receptor blockade." Purinergic Signal 1(2): 111-134.

Daly, JW (1977). "The formation, degradation, and function of cyclic nucleotides in the nervous system." Int Rev Neurobiol 20: 105-168.

Davalos, D, Grutzendler, J, Yang, G, Kim, JV, Zuo, Y, Jung, S, Littman, DR, Dustin, ML and Gan, WB (2005).

"ATP mediates rapid microglial response to local brain injury in vivo." Nat Neurosci 8(6): 752-758.

de Mendonca, A, Sebastiao, AM and Ribeiro, JA (2000). "Adenosine: does it have a neuroprotective role after all?" Brain Res Brain Res Rev 33(2-3): 258-274.

del Puerto A, Díaz-Hernández JI, Tapia M, Gomez-Villafuertes R, Benitez MJ, Zhang J, Miras-Portugal MT, Wandosell F, Díaz-Hernández M, Garrido JJ. (2012) "Adenylate cyclase 5 coordinates the action of ADP, P2Y1, P2Y13 and ATP-gated P2X7 receptors on axonal elongation" J. Cell Sci. 125:176-88.

Deuchars, SA, Atkinson, L, Brooke, RE, Musa, H, Milligan, CJ, Batten, TF, Buckley, NJ, Parson, SH and Deuchars, J (2001). "Neuronal P2X7 receptors are targeted to presynaptic terminals in the central and peripheral nervous systems." J Neurosci 21(18): 7143-7152.

Diaz-Hernandez, M, Gomez-Villafuertes, R, Hernando, F, Pintor, J and Miras-Portugal, MT (2001). "Presence of different ATP receptors on rat midbrain single synaptic terminals. Involvement of the P2X(3) subunits." Neurosci Lett 301(3): 159-162.

Drury, AN and Szent-Gyorgyi, A (1929). "The physiological activity of adenine compounds with especial reference to their action upon the mammalian heart." J Physiol 68(3): 213-237.

Dunwiddie, TV and Masino, SA (2001). "The role and regulation of adenosine in the central nervous system." Annu Rev Neurosci 24: 31-55.

Fields, RD (2006). "Nerve impulses regulate myelination through purinergic signalling." Novartis Found Symp 276: 148-158; discussion 158-161, 233-147, 275-181.

Franke, H, Krugel, U and Illes, P (1999). "P2 receptor-mediated proliferative effects on astrocytes in vivo." Glia 28(3): 190-200.

Fredholm, BB, AP, IJ, Jacobson, KA, Klotz, KN and Linden, J (2001). "International Union of Pharmacology. XXV. Nomenclature and classification of adenosine receptors." Pharmacol Rev 53(4): 527-552.

Fredholm, BB, Chen, JF, Cunha, RA, Svenningsson, P and Vaugeois, JM (2005). "Adenosine and brain function." Int Rev Neurobiol 63: 191-270.

Furlong, TJ, Pierce, KD, Selbie, LA and Shine, J (1992). "Molecular characterization of a human brain adenosine A2 receptor." Brain Res Mol Brain Res 15(1-2): 62-66.

Gallagher, CJ and Salter, MW (2003). "Differential properties of astrocyte calcium waves mediated by P2Y1 and P2Y2 receptors." J Neurosci 23(17): 6728-6739.

Gebicke-Haerter, PJ, Christoffel, F, Timmer, J, Northoff, H, Berger, M and Van Calker, D (1996). "Both adenosine A1- and A2-receptors are required to stimulate microglial proliferation." Neurochem Int 29(1): 37-42.

Hindley, S, Herman, MA and Rathbone, MP (1994). "Stimulation of reactive astrogliosis in vivo by extracellular adenosine diphosphate or an adenosine A2 receptor agonist." J Neurosci Res 38(4): 399-406.

Igor Allaman, Sylvain Lengacher, Pierre J. Magistretti, Luc Pellerin (2003) "A<sub>2B</sub> receptor activation promotes glycogen synthesis in astrocytes through modulation of gene expression" American Journal of Physiology - Cell Physiology vol.284 no. C696-C704

Ikegaya (1999) "Abnormal targeting of developing hippocampal mossy fibers after epileptiform activities via L-type Ca2+ channel activation in vitro" Journal of Neuroscience. 15;19(2):802-12.

Illes, P and Alexandre Ribeiro, J (2004). "Molecular physiology of P2 receptors in the central nervous system." European Journal Pharmacology 483(1): 5-17.

Inoue, K (2008). "Purinergic systems in microglia." Cell Mol Life Sci 65(19): 3074-3080.

James, G and Butt, AM (2002). "P2Y and P2X purinoceptor mediated Ca2+ signalling in glial cell pathology in the central nervous system." Eur J Pharmacol 447(2-3): 247-260.

Jean-Marie Boeynaems<sup>\*</sup>, Didier Communi, Bernard Robaye (2012) "Overview of the pharmacology and physiological roles of P2Y receptors" 1(5): 581–588

Juan José Garrido, Diana Simón, Olga Varea, Francisco Wandosell (2007) "GSK3 alpha and GSK3 beta are necessary for axon formation" FEBS Letters 581(8): 1579–1586

K.K. Cheung, W.Y. Chan, G. Burnstock (2005) "Expression of P2X purinoceptors during rat brain development and their inhibitory role on motor axon outgrowth in neural tube explant cultures" Neuroscience Volume 133(4): 937–945

Kathryn M. Radford, Caterina Virginio, Annmarie Surprenant, R. Alan North, and Eric Kawashima (1997) "Baculovirus Expression Provides Direct Evidence for Heteromeric Assembly of P2X<sub>2</sub>and P2X<sub>3</sub> Receptors" The Journal of Neuroscience 17(17): 6529-6533

Kawano Y, Yoshimura T, Tsuboi D, Kawabata S, Kaneko-Kawano T, Shirataki H, Takenawa T, Kaibuchi K. (2005) "CRMP-2 is involved in kinesin-1-dependent transport of the Sra-1/WAVE1 complex and axon formation" Mol Cell Biol. 25(22):9920-35.

Khakh, BS (2001). "Molecular physiology of P2X receptors and ATP signalling at synapses." Nat Rev Neurosci 2(3): 165-174.

Khanh-Tuoc Lê, Éric Boué-Grabot, Vincent Archambault and Philippe Séguéla (2000) "Functional and Biochemical Evidence for Heteromeric ATP-gated Channels Composed of P2X<sub>1</sub> and P2X<sub>5</sub>Subunits" The Journal of Biological Chemistry, 274,15415-15419.

Koyama R, Ikegaya Y. (2004) "Mossy fiber sprouting as a potential therapeutic target for epilepsy" Curr Neurovasc Res. 1(2):191.

Kull, B, Svenningsson, P and Fredholm, BB (2000). "Adenosine A(2A) receptors are colocalized with and activate g(olf) in rat striatum." Mol Pharmacol 58(4): 771-777.

Kumaria, A, Tolias, CM and Burnstock, G (2008). "ATP signalling in epilepsy." Purinergic Signal 4(4): 339-346.

Laitinen, JT, Uri, A, Raidaru, G and Miettinen, R (2001). "[(35)S]GTPgammaS autoradiography reveals a wide distribution of G(i/o)-linked ADP receptors in the nervous system: close similarities with the platelet P2Y(ADP) receptor." J Neurochem 77(2): 505-518.

Lalo, U, Verkhratsky, A and Pankratov, Y (2011). "Ionotropic ATP receptors in neuronal-glial communication." Semin Cell Dev Biol 22(2): 220-228.'

Lämmer AB, Beck A, Grummich B, Förschler A, Krügel T, *et al.* (2011) "The P2 Receptor Antagonist PPADS Supports Recovery from Experimental Stroke In Vivo". PLoS ONE 6(5): e19983

Lee CY, Jaw T, Tseng HC, Chen IC, Liou HH "Lovastatin modulates glycogen synthase kinase-3β pathway and inhibits mossy fiber sprouting after pilocarpine-induced status epilepticus" PLoS One. 2012;7(6):e38789. doi:

10.1371/journal.pone.0038789. Epub 2012 Jun 26.

Li, M, Chang, TH, Silberberg, SD and Swartz, KJ (2008a). "Gating the pore of P2X receptor channels." Nat Neurosci 11(8): 883-887.

Londos, C, Cooper, DM and Wolff, J (1980). "Subclasses of external adenosine receptors." Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 77(5): 2551-2554.

Lopes, LV, Cunha, RA, Kull, B, Fredholm, BB and Ribeiro, JA (2002). "Adenosine A(2A) receptor facilitation of hippocampal synaptic transmission is dependent on tonic A(1) receptor inhibition." Neuroscience 112(2): 319-329

Marteau, F, Le Poul, E, Communi, D, Labouret, C, Savi, P, Boeynaems, JM and Gonzalez, NS (2003). "Pharmacological characterization of the human P2Y13 receptor." Mol Pharmacol 64(1): 104-112.

Meghji, P, Tuttle, JB and Rubio, R (1989). "Adenosine formation and release by embryonic chick neurons and glia in cell culture." J Neurochem 53(6): 1852-1860.

Moore, DJ, Chambers, JK, Wahlin, JP, Tan, KB, Moore, GB, Jenkins, O, Emson, PC and Murdock, PR (2001). "Expression pattern of human P2Y receptor subtypes: a quantitative reverse transcription-polymerase chain reaction study." Biochim Biophys Acta 31: 1-3.

Moran-Jimenez, MJ and Matute, C (2000). "Immunohistochemical localization of the P2Y(1) purinergic receptor in neurons and glial cells of the central nervous system." Brain Res Mol Brain 78(1-2): 50-58.

Mulle C, Sailer A, Pérez-Otaño I, Dickinson-Anson H, Castillo PE, Bureau I, Maron C, Gage FH, Mann JR, Bettler B, Heinemann SF (1998) "Altered synaptic physiology and reduced susceptibility to kainate-induced seizures in GluR6-deficient mice" Nature. 392(6676):601-5

Nadler JV (2003) "The Recurrent Mossy Fiber Pathway of the Epileptic Brain" Neurochemical Research 28(11): 1649-58.

Neary, JT, Kang, Y, Shi, YF, Tran, MD and Wanner, IB (2006). "P2 receptor signalling, proliferation of astrocytes, and expression of molecules involved in cell-cell interactions." Novartis Found Symp 276: 131-143

Norenberg, W and Illes, P (2000). "Neuronal P2X receptors: localisation and functional properties." Naunyn Schmiedebergs Arch Pharmacol 362(4-5): 324-339.

Othman, T, Yan, H and Rivkees, SA (2003). "Oligodendrocytes express functional A1 adenosine receptors that stimulate cellular migration." Glia 44(2): 166-172.

Othman, T, Yan, H and Rivkees, SA (2003). "Oligodendrocytes express functional A1 adenosine receptors that stimulate cellular migration." Glia 44(2): 166-172

Pamela J. White, Tania E. Webb, and Michael R. Boarder (2003) "Characterization of a Ca<sup>2+</sup> Response to Both UTP and ATP at Human P2Y<sub>11</sub>Receptors: Evidence for Agonist-Specific Signaling" Molecular Pharmacology June 2003 vol. 63 no. 61356-1363

Pankratov Y, Lalo U, Verkhratsky A, North RA (2006) "Vesicular release of ATP at central synapses" Pflugers Arch. 452(5):589-97

Rebola, N, Pinheiro, PC, Oliveira, CR, Malva, JO and Cunha, RA (2003). "Subcellular localization of adenosine A(1) receptors in nerve terminals and synapses of the rat hippocampus." Brain Res 987(1): 49-58

Rebola, N, Rodrigues, RJ, Lopes, LV, Richardson, PJ, Oliveira, CR and Cunha, RA (2005c). "Adenosine A1 and A2A receptors are co-expressed in pyramidal neurons and co-localized in glutamatergic nerve terminals of the rat hippocampus." Neuroscience 133(1): 79-83.

Rodrigues, RJ, Alfaro, TM, Rebola, N, Oliveira, CR and Cunha, RA (2005a). "Co-localization and functional interaction between adenosine A(2A) and metabotropic group 5 receptors in glutamatergic nerve terminals of the rat striatum." J Neurochem 92(3): 433-441.

Rodrigues, RJ, Almeida, T, Richardson, PJ, Oliveira, CR and Cunha, RA (2005b). "Dual presynaptic control by ATP of glutamate release via facilitatory P2X1, P2X2/3, and P2X3 and inhibitory P2Y1, P2Y2, and/or P2Y4 receptors in the rat hippocampus." J Neurosci 25(27): 6286-6295.

Rosalind Le Feuvre, David Brough, Nancy Rothwell (2002) "Extracellular ATP and P2X7 receptors in neurodegeneration" European Journal of Pharmacology Volume 447, Issues 2–3, 5 July 2002, Pages 261–269

Rubio, ME and Soto, F (2001). "Distinct Localization of P2X receptors at excitatory postsynaptic specializations." J Neurosci 21(2): 641-653.

Schindler, M, Harris, CA, Hayes, B, Papotti, M and Humphrey, PP (2001). "Immunohistochemical localization of adenosine A1 receptors in human brain regions." Neurosci Lett 297(3): 211-215.

Sean G. Brown1, Andrea Townsend-Nicholson2, Kenneth A. Jacobson3, Geoffrey Burnstock1 and Brian F. King (2002) "Heteromultimeric  $P2X_{1/2}$  Receptors Show a Novel Sensitivity to Extracellular pH" JPET vol.300 no. 2 673-680

Sperlagh, B, Kofalvi, A, Deuchars, J, Atkinson, L, Milligan, CJ, Buckley, NJ and Vizi, ES (2002). "Involvement of P2X7 receptors in the regulation of neurotransmitter release in the rat hippocampus." J Neurochem 81(6): 1196-1211.

Suadicani, SO, Flores, CE, Urban-Maldonado, M, Beelitz, M and Scemes, E (2004). "Gap junction channels coordinate the propagation of intercellular Ca2+ signals generated by P2Y receptor activation." Glia 48(3): 217-229.

Tauck DL, Nadler JV. (1985) "Evidence of functional mossy fiber sprouting in hippocampal formation of kainic acid- treated rats" Journal of Neuroscience 5(4):1016-22

Tetzlaff, W, Schubert, P and Kreutzberg, GW (1987). "Synaptic and extrasynaptic localization of adenosine binding sites in the rat hippocampus." Neuroscience 21(3): 869-875.

Tiit Laasberg (1990) "Ca<sup>2+</sup>-mobilizing receptors of gastrulating chick embryo" Comparative Biochemistry and Physiology Part C: Comparative Pharmacology 97(1): 9–12

van Calker, D, Muller, M and Hamprecht, B (1979). "Adenosine regulates via two different types of receptors, the accumulation of cyclic AMP in cultured brain cells." J Neurochem 33(5): 999- 1005.

Verkhratsky, A, Krishtal, OA and Burnstock, G (2009). "Purinoceptors on neuroglia." Mol Neurobiol 39(3): 190-208.

Wilson SM, Xiong W, Wang Y, Ping X, Head JD, Brittain JM, Gagare PD, Ramachandran PV, Jin X, Khanna R (2012) "Prevention of posttraumatic axon sprouting by blocking collapsin response mediator protein 2-mediated neurite outgrowth and tubulin polymerization" Neuroscience. 2012 May 17;210:451-66. doi: 10.1016/j.neuroscience.2012.02.038. Epub 2012 Feb 28.

Zhang W, Huguenard JR, Buckmaster PS (2012) "Increased Excitatory Synaptic Input to Granule Cells from Hilar and CA3 Regions in a Rat Model of Temporal Lobe Epilepsy" Journal of Neuroscience 32(4):1183–1196.

Zimmermann (2006) "Nucleotide signaling in nervous system development" Pflügers Archiv 452(5): 573-588

Zimmermann (2011) "Purinergic Signaling and neuronal development" Seminars in Cell and Developmental Biology 22 (2011) 194-204

Zimmermann H, Zebisch M, Sträter N. (2012) "Cellular function and molecular structure of ecto-nucleotidases" Purinergic Signal. 8(3):437-502.

Zimmermann, H (2006). "Ectonucleotidases in the nervous system." Novartis Found Symp 276: 113-128.